1949

# Jerry Sine and Dora Sine v. Mildred Iona Harper : Brief of Appellant

Utah Supreme Court

### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This is an appeal from the Decree of Reformation entered April 25, 1949, in the Third Judicial District Court in and for Salt Lake County, purporting to reform a Uniform Real Estate Contract for the sale of real estate from Cathrine Jensen, defendant's testator, to the plaintiffs Jerry and Dora Sine.

## STATEMENT OF FACTS

The plaintiffs, Jerry Sine and Dora Sine, his wife, on or about the 27th day of July, 1947, employed a Real Estate Agent by the name of Dowell to see if he could negotiate a deal for the purchase in their behalf of some real estate consisting of a lot and duplex to use in connection with their auto court. Dowell determined the owner to be Cathrine Jensen and after two or three visits with her obtained her signature on an Earnest Money Receipt and Agreement agreeing to sell the property located at 656-658 West North Temple Street, in Salt Lake City, Utah, for \$8,500.00 with \$1,500.00 down and payments of \$75.00 per month for the first two years and after two years payments to be reduced to \$60.00. Subsequently Dowell obtained from Cathrine Jensen an abstract and took it to his office where under his instructions a Uniform Real Estate Contract was prepared, dated the 31st day of July, 1949, including the above terms, and describing the real estate as a tract 115 feet in depth with a 49½ foot frontage on West North Temple Street. This contract was subsequently signed by all parties. Between this tract and that already owned by the plaintiffs as part of their auto court is a tract of vacant property 115 feet deep with a 25½ foot frontage also owned by the said Cathrine Jensen, which is the subject of this controversy.

Plaintiffs claim that it was the intention of all parties that the contract was for the purchase of the 25½ foot tract as well as for the 49½ foot tract, and

that the description of only the 49½ foot tract got into the contract by mistake. Plaintiffs notified Cathrine Jensen of the alleged mistake and asked her for a new contract covering both tracts, which she refused to give, and plaintiffs brought this action against her for reformation of the contract. Cathrine Jensen answered plaintiffs' complaint denying that she had ever intended to sell anything other than the 49½ tract, that there was no mistake on her part, and that the action was barred by the statute of frauds, Section 33-5-3, Utah Code Annotated 1943. Before the case could be brought to trial, Cathrine Jensen died, and Mildred Iona Harper who was appointed Executrix of her estate, was substituted as defendant in the action by Jerry and Dora Sine.

To clarify the issues for the court, we set out plaintiffs' complaint, together with defendant's answers to the allegations therein and plaintiffs' reply:

## COMPLAINT AS ANSWERED

For their cause of action against the defendant plaintiffs allege:

1. Plaintiffs and defendant are, and at all times herein mentioned were, residents of Salt Lake County, State of Utah. (Admitted by defendant.)

2. Plaintiffs are, and at all times herein mentioned were, the owners of the following described tract of land in Salt Lake County, Utah, to wit:

Commencing 75 feet East of the Southwest corner of Lot 3, Block 61, Plat "C", Salt Lake City Survey, and running thence East 151 feet; thence North 127 feet; thence East 104 feet; thence North 58 feet; thence West 11 feet; thence North 104 feet; thence East 11 feet; thence North 41 feet; thence West 206 feet; thence South 12 feet; thence West 112 feet; thence South 191 feet; thence East 112 feet; thence South 12 feet; thence West 49 feet; thence South 115 feet; to the place of beginning; together with a right of way over the following: Commencing 124 feet East and 115 feet North of the Southwest corner of said Lot 3 and running thence 124 feet; thence North 215 feet; thence East 124 feet; thence South 12 feet; thence West 112 feet; thence South 191 feet; thence East 112 feet; thence South 12 feet to the place of beginning.

(Admitted by defendant.)

3. Defendant is, and at all times herein mentioned was, the owner of legal title to property adjoining the property described in Paragraph 2 hereof, which property is more particularly descibed as follows, to wit:

Commencing at the Southwest corner of Lot 3, Block 61, Plat "C", Salt Lake City Survey, and running thence East 75 feet; thence North 115 feet to an alley; thence West along the South side of said alley 75 feet; thence South 115 feet to place of beginning; together with a right of way over said alley, the same being 12 feet wide and extending from Western Avenue to the West end of said tract.

(Admitted by defendant.)



4. On or about July 27, 1947, an agent of plaintiffs acting in their behalf entered into an oral agreement with defendant for the purchase of defendant's property described in Paragraph 3 at a price of \$8,500.00; that on July 29, 1947, the said oral agreement was reduced to writing in the form of an Earnest Money Receipt and Agreement, copy of which is attached hereto as Exhibit "A" and by this reference made a part hereof. (Defendant admitted the execution of the Earnest Money Receipt and Agreement, but denied all other allegations.)

5. That it was and is the understanding of the parties that Exhibit "A" covered the property of defendant described in Paragraph 3 hereof and was the property adjoining the property of plaintiffs and on the West thereof. (Denied by defendant.)

6. That on or about August 9, 1947, plaintiffs caused their attorneys to examine the abstract submitted to plaintiffs by defendant and supposed by plaintiffs to cover the property described in Paragraph 3 and on or about said date plaintiffs caused their aforementioned agent to prepare a Uniform Real Estate Contract covering said property, which contract was dated July 31, 1947, and executed on or about August 10, 1947, copy of which is attached hereto as Exhibit "B" and by this reference made a part hereof; and that in executing said agreement the plaintiffs relied on their attorneys and their agent as aforesaid to safeguard plaintiffs in the purchase of the said property and execute Exhibit

“B” in the belief that the said contract covered the property described in Paragraph 3 and adjoined plaintiffs’ property. (Defendant admitted the execution of the Uniform Real Estate Contract, but denied the other allegations for lack of knowledge.)

7. That plaintiffs have information which they believe and therefore allege as a fact that defendant in signing Exhibits “A” and “B” did so in the belief and with the understanding that she was selling to plaintiffs the property described in Paragraph 3 hereof and that she later discovered the mistake that had been made, which discovery was made on or about July 15, 1948. (Denied by defendant.)

8. That plaintiffs discovered the abovementioned mistake on or about July 17, 1948, and forthwith requested defendant to correct said mistake by reforming Exhibit “B” to conform to the intentions of the parties with reference thereto and that defendant thereupon refused and has since refused to rewrite said agreement although demand therefor has been made upon her so to do. (Denied by defendant.)

WHEREFORE, plaintiffs pray judgment against the defendant that the contract between the parties dated July 27, 1947, be corrected and reformed to cover that tract of land 75 feet by 115 feet together with right of way over alley to the North which adjoins the property of plaintiffs in Block 61, Plat “C”, Salt Lake City Survey, according to the intentions of the parties at the time said agreement was executed and that plaintiffs

have their costs incurred herein and such other further and different relief as the court shall find to be equitable.

As a further answer to plaintiffs' complaint, and as an affirmative defense thereto, defendant alleged as follows:

1. Defendant acquired the property described in paragraph 3 of plaintiffs' complaint by two separate conveyances at different times and from different grantors, to-wit:

*Parcel 1*

Commencing at the Southwest corner of Lot 3, Block 61, Plat "C", Salt Lake City Survey, and running thence East  $49\frac{1}{2}$  feet; thence North 115 feet; to an alley; thence West along the South side of said Alley  $49\frac{1}{2}$  feet; thence South 115 feet to the place of beginning.

acquired from Catherine H. Hardy by warranty deed dated September 24, 1930.

*Parcel 2*

Beginning at a point  $49\frac{1}{2}$  feet East from the Southwest corner of Lot 3, Block 61, Plat "C", Salt Lake City Survey, and running thence East  $25\frac{1}{2}$  feet; thence North 115 feet; thence West  $25\frac{1}{2}$  feet; thence South 115 feet, to the place of beginning.

acquired from Pehr J. W. von Ehrenheim by warranty deed dated May 2, 1939.

2. That on or about July 29, 1947, defendant signed a written agreement prepared by her agent, in the form of the Earnest Money Receipt attached to

plaintiffs' complaint as Exhibit "A", for the sale to plaintiffs of the said Parcel 1 as described above.

3. That on or about July 29, 1947, defendant delivered to plaintiffs an abstract, well knowing and understanding that said abstract covered only said Parcel 1.

4. That never at any time did defendant sell, contract to sell, either orally or by writing, or intend to sell Parcel 2 to plaintiffs.

5. That plaintiffs' action is barred by the provisions of Section 33-5-3, Utah Code Annotated 1943.

WHEREFORE, defendant prays that plaintiffs take nothing by their complaint, and that defendants go hence with their costs, and for such other relief as to the court shall seem fit and proper.

In their Reply to Defendant's Answer plaintiffs denied the allegations of paragraphs 3, 4, and 5 of the affirmative defense, and alleged with reference to said affirmative defense that if the defendant acted in the manner alleged in paragraphs 3 and 4 of the affirmative defense she defrauded the plaintiffs knowing full well that the plaintiffs bargained for, agreed to buy, intended to buy, and thought they were acquiring the property adjoining that already owned by plaintiffs and lying immediately west of said property of plaintiffs.

Trial was had upon the issues raised by the above pleadings at which Jerry and Dora Sine were permitted to testify over the objection of the defendant's attorney

that it was their intention to purchase the 25½ foot piece as well as the 49½ foot piece, and that they thought that the Uniform Real Estate Contract finally entered into contained a description that covered both tracts, although they admitted that they didn't read the contract. Mr. Dowell was also permitted to testify as to his instructions from Mr. Sine to the effect that he was to purchase the property adjoining the Sine property, which was objected to by defendant's counsel. The court further permitted Dowell to testify concerning negotiations and conversations with Cathrine Jensen, over objections of defendant's counsel that he was an incompetent witness under the "dead man's statute", Section 104-49-2 (3), Utah Code Annotated 1943. Defendant's motion to strike all of the above testimony, and her motion for nonsuit at the end of plaintiffs' case were denied by the trial court. Defendant's witnesses, including herself, two other daughters of Cathrine Jensen, Mr. J. C. Jensen, surviving husband of Cathrine Jensen, and C. W. Biddinger, former husband of Cathrine Jensen all testified to statements of Mrs. Jensen before her death, both before and soon after the transaction in issue, to the effect that it was her intention not to sell the 25½ foot piece, but rather to erect a small building on it either for residential or business purposes.

## FINDINGS OF FACT

The trial court made the following Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law in favor of the plaintiffs:

1. Cathrine Jensen, the original defendant, passed away on or about November 26, 1948, and the defendant Mildred Iona Harper was duly appointed executrix of the estate of Cathrine Jensen, deceased, on January 5, 1949, and was substituted as defendant in the above-entitled action by order of the court dated February 9, 1949.

2. In February 1946 the plaintiffs became the owners of a tract of land in Block 61, Plat "C", Salt Lake City Survey, on the north side of West North Temple between 5th West and 6th West, Salt Lake City, Utah, being more particularly described as follows, to-wit:

Commencing 75 feet East of the Southwest corner of Lot 3, Block 61, Plat "C", Salt Lake City Survey, and running thence East 151 feet; thence North 127 feet; thence East 104 feet; thence North 58 feet; thence West 11 feet; thence North 104 feet; thence East 11 feet; thence North 41 feet; thence West 206 feet; thence South 12 feet; thence West 112 feet; thence South 191 feet; thence East 112 feet; thence South 12 feet; thence West 49 feet; thence South 115 feet to the place of beginning; together with a right of way over the following: Commencing 124 feet East and 115 feet North of the Southwest corner of said Lot 3 and running thence West 124 feet; thence North 215 feet; thence East 124 feet; thence South 12 feet; thence West 112 feet; thence South 191 feet; thence East 112 feet; thence South 12 feet to the place of beginning.



3. In the fall of 1946 the plaintiffs purchased an additional tract of land in said tract, being 33 x 125 feet in dimension in a northerly and easterly direction from a point 127 feet North and 12 feet East of the Southwest corner of Lot 3 in said block, thus completing purchase by the plaintiffs of all of the property shown in pink on Exhibit B in this cause.

4. At all times herein mentioned Cathrine Jensen and the defendant as executrix of the estate of Cathrine Jensen, deceased, have held legal title to property adjoining the property described in finding 2 hereof, which property is more particularly described as follows, to-wit:

Commencing at the Southwest corner of Lot 3, Block 61, Plat "C", Salt Lake Survey, and running thence East 75 feet; thence North 115 feet to an alley; thence West along the South side of said alley 75 feet; thence South 115 feet to place of beginning; together with a right of way over said alley, the same being 12 feet wide and extending from Western Avenue to the West end of said tract.

5. On or about July 27, 1947, plaintiffs instructed their agent to purchase in their behalf the property described in the next preceding paragraph from the owner of said property and on or about said date the said agent, acting in behalf of the plaintiffs, entered into an oral agreement with Cathrine Jensen for the purchase of said property at a price of \$8,500.00 and on July 29, 1947, the said oral agreement was reduced to writing in the form of an Earnest Money Receipt

and Agreement, which is Exhibit A in this cause, and was signed by the respective parties thereto.

6. It was and is the understanding of the plaintiffs that Exhibit C covered the property of defendant described in finding 4 hereof and was the property adjoining the front portion of the property of plaintiffs and lying immediately to the west thereof.

7. On or about July 31, 1947, and within a few days thereafter, the plaintiffs and Cathrine Jensen, deceased, entered into a real estate contract, copy of which is Exhibit D in this cause.

8. In executing Exhibit D, the plaintiffs relied on their attorneys and their agent as aforesaid to safeguard plaintiffs in the purchase of said property and executed the original of Exhibit D in the belief and with the understanding that said Exhibit D covered the property described in finding 4 and adjoined plaintiffs' property as herein described.

9. Cathrine Jensen executed Exhibit C and the original of Exhibit D in the belief and with the understanding that she was selling to plaintiffs the property described in finding 4 hereof and that she discovered a mistake in the description contained in the original of Exhibit D either in September or November 1947.

10. Plaintiffs discovered the above mentioned mistake on or about July 24, 1948, and forthwith requested Cathrine Jensen to correct said mistake by reforming the original of Exhibit D to conform to the intentions of the parties with reference thereto and so as to de-



scribe the property described in finding 4 hereof, which Cathrine Jensen and later the executrix of her estate refused to do.

11. In entering into the original of Exhibit D, the plaintiffs bargained for all of the property described in finding 4 and would not have entered into the said contract had they known that Exhibit D did not correctly describe the said property.

Upon the foregoing findings of fact the court makes the following

### CONCLUSIONS OF LAW

1. At the time the original of Exhibit D was entered into the plaintiffs and Cathrine Jensen had bargained for and believed that the transaction and sale covered the property adjoining property owned by the plaintiffs and being a piece with 75 feet frontage and 115 feet in depth.

2. The original of Exhibit D erroneously described the intention and understanding of the parties with reference to the description of the land, and plaintiffs would not have entered into the said contract or have made the said purchase for the land actually described in the original of Exhibit D.

3. Plaintiffs are entitled to a judgment reforming the contract between the parties to cover the land intended by the parties to be sold by Cathrine Jensen to the plaintiffs on or about July 31, 1947.

4. Plaintiffs are entitled to their costs in this action against the estate of Cathrine Jensen or Catherine Jensen, deceased.

In its decree of reformation the trial court ordered the defendant to execute and deliver to the plaintiffs a new contract describing the 25½ foot piece as well as the 49½ foot tract.

Defendant obtained an order from the Probate Court which has jurisdiction over the estate of Cathrine Jensen, for authorization to appeal to the Supreme Court from the decree of reformation and for authority to file an undertaking for costs and to execute the contract as ordered by the trial court and deliver it to the clerk of said court as required by Section 104-41-10, Utah Code Annotated 1943. Defendant now appeals to this court for a reversal of said lower court's judgment.

Further facts and details of testimony as might be helpful to the court will appear hereafter in appellant's argument.

## STATEMENT OF ERRORS RELIED UPON FOR REVERSAL OF THE JUDGMENT

The court erred:

1. In overruling defendant's demurrer to plaintiffs' complaint for the reason that it did not state facts sufficient to constitute a cause of action, and that said cause of action was barred by the provisions of Section 33-5-3 Utah Code Annotated 1943.

2. In admitting hearsay evidence of plaintiffs' instructions and statements to their agent, Dowell.

3. In admitting parol evidence to vary the terms of a written instrument.

4. In admitting evidence to set up an oral contract in violation of the statute of frauds.

5. In admitting testimony of a witness rendered incompetent by the "dead man's statute", Section 104-49-2 (3), Utah Code Annotated 1943.