1949

Jerry Sine and Dora Sine v. Mildred Iona Harper : Brief of Respondents

Utah Supreme Court

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

ARGUMENT

We will argue, first, our three cross-assignments of error and will then argue the five points discussed by the appellant in her brief.

I.

IT WAS ERROR FOR THE COURT TO ADMIT TESTIMONY OF CONVERSATIONS WITH THE DECEASED CATHERINE JENSEN OCCURRING LONG AFTER THE SALE TO THE RESPONDENTS.

Logically, our cross-assignments of error should be argued after the assignments of the appellant. They are argued first in this brief so that the Court will understand the nature of the testimony upon which appellant relied in defense, so that under point V of the appellant's argument (point VIII of this brief) the Court can exclude from consideration evidence which was properly inadmissible and it can therefore be ignored in resolving appellant's point V.

Appellant's testimony of conversations with the deceased occurred in September 1947 or later, except that Mrs. Freeman testified to a conversation "right after"

the property had been sold (R. 171) and Mrs. Wheeler testified to a conversation apparently on the date the earnest money receipt was executed (R. 210). With these two exceptions, testimony as to conversations with the deceased was remote from the transaction involved in this litigation and not shown to have been safeguarded by admissions against interests or spontaneous exclamation, or otherwise. All of the statements are plainly self-serving and Mrs. Wheeler's could not have been more to the point from the standpoint of the appellant if the deceased had dictated it after the filing of the lawsuit and as a means of establishing her defense.

At the time the first witness offered to testify concerning a conversation with the deceased, the Court expressed doubt as to its admissibility (R. 150) but Counsel for the appellant argued that the testimony was similar to some already offered by the respondents (and now strenuously objected to under point IV of appellant's argument), as though that were a reason for admissibility (R. 150).

It is fundamental that self-serving declarations are not admissible. *Salt Lake Brewing Co. v. Hawke and Andrews*, 24 Utah 199, 208, 66 P. 1058; *Clayton v. Ogden State Bank*, 82 Utah 564, 567, 26 P. 2d 545; *Jones Commentaries on the Law of Evidence*, page 1636; 31 C. J. S. 948.

Salt Lake Brewing Co. v. Hawke and Andrews (supra) was an action against two partners for money loaned by the plaintiff. One partner obtained the money

and absconded and the question was whether the absconding partner had authority to receive the money for the partnership. Testimony was received that the innocent partner, after learning of the loss, had stated that it was not his responsibility. The Court said:

“We are of the opinion that the admission of this testimony was prejudicial error. It was already hearsay, and the statement of the defendant Andrews at that time, after he found that there would be an attempt made to hold him liable for the money borrowed by his partner, was simply a self-serving declaration, and was not admissible for any purpose.”

Clayton v. Ogden State Bank (*supra*) was an action against an administrator for the value of services rendered. This Court held that plaintiff's testimony of a letter sent by him to the deceased was properly excluded:

“ * * * * Exhibit A, the letter from plaintiff to deceased, is purely a self-serving document and aside from the effect of the statute or other connecting evidence was properly rejected by the trial court.”

The fact that Cathrine Jensen was deceased does not make her extra-judicial utterances admissible:

“The mere fact of death, alone, does not render competent self-serving conduct, admissions or declarations of the deceased person during his lifetime.” Jones Commentaries on the Law of Evidence, page 1642.

“The death of the declarant does not render his self-serving declarations admissible, except in jurisdictions where the rule has been changed by statute. ” 31 C. J. S. 953.

The annotation to this statement includes cases from 27 jurisdictions, but none from Utah. Without presuming to know upon what theory the appellant offered this testimony, we suggest that the most plausible theory was under the “Res gestae” exception to the hearsay rule. With the exception of the two conversations indicated, this theory is too far-fetched to deserve comment, and we therefore consider this possibility under our point II.

II.

IT WAS ERROR FOR THE COURT TO ADMIT TESTIMONY OF CONVERSATIONS WITH THE DECEASED SHORTLY AFTER THE TIME OF SALE TO THE RESPONDENTS.

The testimony of Mrs. Freeman was that her conversation with her mother took place right after the property had been sold but that it took place at her own home, and there is no indication that this conversation was the same day, or even the same week (R. 171). Less remote was the conversation to which Mrs. Wheeler testified. This one took place sometime after the conversation between Mr. Dowell and Mrs. Jensen and after Mrs. Wheeler and her mother, according to the testimony had driven to the property on North Temple

Street from 8th South (R. 209-211). Were the circumstances such as to permit the Court to receive this testimony under this exception to the hearsay rule?

Little would be accomplished by an attempt to examine into the reasons for the *Res gestae* exception to the hearsay rule. This aspect of the problem has been before the court, as evidenced by Mr. Justice Wolfe's special concurrence in *State v. Rasmussen*, 92 Utah 357 at pages 372 to 374. The difficulties of the doctrine are discussed by both Jones and Wigmore in their works on evidence. We assume that the exception is well-established and that the reasons for its existence are sufficient, and simply inquire into the decided cases in asking this Court to rule on the testimony received in this case.

Jackson v. Utah Rapid Transit Co., 77 Utah 21, 37 to 40, 290 P. 970, was an action for personal injuries in which plaintiff obtained a judgment. Plaintiff offered testimony of statements of defendant's motorman to the plaintiff, her husband, a policeman, and in reporting the accident over the telephone. On appeal this Court said, at page 37:

"It is urged that the statements or declarations made by the motorman to the husband, to the plaintiff, and to the policeman, were improperly received in evidence. Such testimony was received under the *Res gestae* rule."

In sustaining the lower court in receiving this testimony,

this Court laid down the tests which should be observed, as follows:

“In view of such considerations we think the statements or declarations made by the motorman to the husband, to the plaintiff, and to the policeman were properly received in evidence. They were made so nearly coincident with the collision—within three or four minutes thereafter—and so closely connected with and related to it and tended to explain or elucidate it, and made under such circumstances as to preclude premeditation or design in the making of them, and sufficiently shown to have been the result of the immediate and present influences of the transaction or preceding circumstances to which they related as to render them admissible in evidence. The statements were in no sense self serving. While declarations made for or against one party or the other to a cause is not itself a determining factor of their admissibility and to be admissible it is not essential that the declarations be disserving if they otherwise have the requisites rendering them admissible under the rule, still, declarations which are disserving, as here they were, are more likely to be instinctive and spontaneous and not the result of premeditation or design, than declarations which, if made under other circumstances, may be self-serving. As stated in the Cromeenes Case, the basis of the rule is not admissions against interest, but trustworthiness of the statements, provable, not as the testimony of the declarant, but as a part of the transaction itself, like any other material fact or evidentiary detail.”

As to the telephone conversation, this Court held

that it should have been excluded upon this reasoning:

“The admission in evidence as to what the motorman stated while talking over the telephone stands on a somewhat different footing. As to the question of time there was no substantial difference as to that statement and the other statements, but the character of the statement and the circumstances under which it was made were materially different. The statement over the telephone was more in the nature of making a report, the witness who testified concerning the making of it not knowing whether the statement was made to some one in the defendant’s office or to some one at the police station; but in either case, the motorman was merely reporting or giving notice of an accident. Such a report or statement in the very nature of things is not instinctive or spontaneous though made within four minutes or thereabouts after the accident. What prompted or induced the statements made to the husband and the plaintiff was wholly different from that which prompted or induced the statement over the telephone. We thus think the statement made by the motorman over the telephone was improperly received.”

The principles of this case were followed in *Balle v. Smith*, 81 Utah 179 at 198, 17 P. 2d 224, where, after quoting from *Jackson v. Utah Rapid Transit Co.*, the court said:

“The declaration offered meets the requirements of this rule, and should have been admitted. It was made within a very few minutes after the

collision and before any of the parties concerned had left the scene of the accident, so as to be contemporaneous within the rule announced in the Jackson Case. It was closely connected with and related to the accident, and tended to explain and elucidate it. It was made under circumstances which indicate its spontaneous character and to preclude premeditation or design or opportunity for reflection, and is sufficiently shown to have been the result of the immediate and present influences of the collision. The nature of the occasion was such as to cause shock and excitement, and to render utterances within a few minutes by those concerned in the accident as spontaneous and unreflecting. The declaration, though subsequent by a few minutes, was yet near enough in time to allow the assumption that the exciting influence continued.”

And, again, in *State v. Rasmussen*, supra, 92 Utah 357, 68 P. 2d 176, the circumstance out of which the declaration arose was an automobile accident. This was a prosecution of a hit and run driver and holds that the trial court has some discretion in the admission of declarations as part of *Res gestae*. In that case, one Maloney testified as to the death of his companions and his presence at the scene of the accident. The defendant offered testimony of one Zackerson—that he arrived at the scene of the accident apparently before anyone else and while Maloney was still excited and was still near the body of one of his companions and asked Maloney how it happened. The trial court refused to let him answer. The Supreme Court said, at page 361:

“Had it been shown that the utterances offered to be proved were spontaneous, made under stress or the excitement of the occurrence, the proffered proof might have presented a different question. Nothing appears as to how soon after the alleged accident occurred the statements were made. The declaration offered may have been made within a very few minutes after the accident or so closely contemporaneous with it as to come within the rule laid down by this court in the case of *Balle v. Smith*, 81 Utah 179, 17 P. (2d) 224, at page 232 of the Pacific Reporter. It must be recognized that the trial court has some discretion in the admission of declarations of this character when the declarations are not immediate, spontaneous, or made under stress of excitement. The court should be fully satisfied by the evidence that a statement claimed to be *res gestae* comes within the rule and meets all the requirements. It is not clearly apparent in the instant case that the declaration made meets the requirements of the *Balle v. Smith*, *supra*.”

The concurrence of Mr. Justice Wolfe in this case cautions that the tests to bring a declaration within this exception are spontaneity, absence of reflection, and the automatic nature of the declaration, and that the discretion of the trial court lies in determining whether these tests are satisfied.

A later, but similar, Utah case is *Morton v. Hood*, 105 Utah, 484, 143 P. 2d 434.

Wigmore states in Section 1749 of his Third Edition of Evidence that this exception to the hearsay rule, as

are all others, is supported by a circumstantial probability of trustworthiness. Spontaneousness gives the probability of trustworthiness to these declarations. Wigmore says:

“This circumstantial guarantee here consists in the consideration, already noted, that in the stress of nervous excitement the reflective faculties may be stilled and the utterance may become the unreflecting and sincere expression of one’s actual impressions and belief.”

And in the succeeding section Mr. Wigmore comments on the requirements that there be a startling occasion, a statement made before there has been time to fabricate and that it relate to the circumstances of the occurrence.

The facts testified to by Mrs. Wheeler are that on the day of Mr. Dowell’s second conversation with her mother and after that conversation (which Mr. Dowell said was quite lengthy (R. 121), Mrs. Jensen suggested that they take a ride over to the North Temple property (R. 209). After they arrived there Mrs. Jensen without any explanation of why any question was raised as to what was covered by the contract she had just executed, proceeded to give a self-serving statement of what was in the document and what was not intended to be covered by the document. There had been much more elapsed time than the usual three or four minutes found by this court to be sufficient, there was no showing that Mrs. Jensen was excited or that she was acting without op-

portunity to deliberate and to accomplish a purpose with her declaration.

Of course, the trial court did not believe the daughters of the deceased and this assignment of error becomes important only in the event this Court should order a new trial, and in that event, it would be a guide on the next trial. It will be referred to again under Point VIII of this argument.

III.

IT WAS ERROR FOR THE COURT TO REFUSE TO STRIKE THE TESTIMONY OF MRS. HARPER OF CONVERSATIONS WITH THE DECEASED AFTER THE SALE (R. 152-153).

No special point is made of this assignment of error. The court was doubtful whether this testimony was admissible and suggested that counsel for respondents make a motion to strike if he deemed the evidence inadmissible. This motion was made at a proper time and was denied by the court (R. 152-153). This was error in the same manner as the original ruling over respondents' objections was error.

IV.

THE COURT ERRED IN PERMITTING HEARSAY EVIDENCE OF THE STATEMENTS OF PLAINTIFFS TO THEIR AGENT CONCERNING INSTRUCTIONS TO PURCHASE THE 25½-FOOT

are all others, is supported by a circumstantial probability of trustworthiness. Spontaneousness gives the probability of trustworthiness to these declarations. Wigmore says:

“This circumstantial guarantee here consists in the consideration, already noted, that in the stress of nervous excitement the reflective faculties may be stilled and the utterance may become the unreflecting and sincere expression of one’s actual impressions and belief.”

And in the succeeding section Mr. Wigmore comments on the requirements that there be a startling occasion, a statement made before there has been time to fabricate and that it relate to the circumstances of the occurrence.

The facts testified to by Mrs. Wheeler are that on the day of Mr. Dowell’s second conversation with her mother and after that conversation (which Mr. Dowell said was quite lengthy (R. 121), Mrs. Jensen suggested that they take a ride over to the North Temple property (R. 209). After they arrived there Mrs. Jensen without any explanation of why any question was raised as to what was covered by the contract she had just executed, proceeded to give a self-serving statement of what was in the document and what was not intended to be covered by the document. There had been much more elapsed time than the usual three or four minutes found by this court to be sufficient, there was no showing that Mrs. Jensen was excited or that she was acting without op-

portunity to deliberate and to accomplish a purpose with her declaration.

Of course, the trial court did not believe the daughters of the deceased and this assignment of error becomes important only in the event this Court should order a new trial, and in that event, it would be a guide on the next trial. It will be referred to again under Point VIII of this argument.

III.

IT WAS ERROR FOR THE COURT TO REFUSE TO STRIKE THE TESTIMONY OF MRS. HARPER OF CONVERSATIONS WITH THE DECEASED AFTER THE SALE (R. 152-153).

No special point is made of this assignment of error. The court was doubtful whether this testimony was admissible and suggested that counsel for respondents make a motion to strike if he deemed the evidence inadmissible. This motion was made at a proper time and was denied by the court (R. 152-153). This was error in the same manner as the original ruling over respondents' objections was error.

IV.

THE COURT ERRED IN PERMITTING HEARSAY EVIDENCE OF THE STATEMENTS OF PLAINTIFFS TO THEIR AGENT CONCERNING INSTRUCTIONS TO PURCHASE THE 25½-FOOT

TRACT, AND IN FINDING THAT SUCH WERE THE INSTRUCTIONS AND THAT PLAINTIFFS INTENDED TO PURCHASE THE SAID 25½-FOOT TRACT. (Appellant's point I)

Having in mind all that has gone before, respondents contend that the testimony of respondent Sine and of the agent Dowell, set forth at page 19 of appellant's brief, was properly admitted as a verbal act creating the agency between them. It was necessary for the respondent to show agency and that Dowell was authorized to convey to the deceased the state of mind and intention of the respondent and also because there was a question as to whose agent Mr. Dowell was. The appellant contended that Dowell was the agent of the deceased (R. 111, 114) and the respondents contended that Dowell was their agent (R. 111, 112), and the court made finding of fact number 5 on this issue (R. 37). Under these circumstances, the testimony was properly received.

On this question, in *Wisconsin Orange Crush Bottling Co. v. Meicher*, 198 Wis. 461, 224 N. W. 702, the question of agency was in dispute and testimony had been received as to the terms of that agency. At page 704 of 224 N. W., the Wisconsin Supreme Court said:

“It is strenuously objected that the testimony given by Charles Meicher as to his conversation with Bumpus and detailing the extent of the agency was not competent upon the general ground that they were self-serving declarations. We are cited to no cases sustaining such a prop-

osition. What Meicher testified to was the arrangement between him and Bumpus. That a principal may not testify to the terms of the contract made by him with an agent is certainly a novel contention. How else would the contract of agency be established? The burden was upon Paull to establish the fact of agency, which he endeavored to do by inference."

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